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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
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KAREN DUELL, CASE NO. 14-cv-2774 - WQH-JLB
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HAYES, Judge:
The matters before the Court are the Motion for Summary Judgment filed b

Defendant First National Bank of Omah&KBO”) (ECF No. 58); and the Motion for

Summary Judgment, or alternatively Summary Adjudication, filed by Plaintiff Klaren

Duell. (ECF No. 60).

|. Procedural Background

N N R R R
P O © 0 N O

On November 20, 2015, Dlienitiated this action by filing a Complaint agairjst
Defendants FNBO and the Dunning Law Firm (“Dunning”). (ECF No. 1).
On May 27, 2016, Dueliled a Second Amended Cotamt (“SAC”) asserting
the following four claims: (1) violations dhe Fair Debt Collection Practice Act, L5
U.S.C. 8 1692¢t seg. against Dunning; (2) violationsf the Roserital Fair Debt
Collection Practices Act, Catifnia Civil Code section 1788&,seg. against FNBO and
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Dunning (3) violations of the Californi@onsumer Credit Reporting Agencies Act,

N
o

California Civil Code section 1785.4t, seq. against FNBO, and; (4) violations of the
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Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. section 16&1seg. against FNBO. (ECF No.

)

54). On June 10, 2016, Dunning filed an amist@ the SAC. (ECF No. 55). On June

13, 2016, Defendant FNBO filed an answer to the SAC. (ECF No. 56).

On July 5, 2016, FNBO filed a Motidor Summary Judgment. (ECF No. 5
On July 25, 2016, Duell filed a responseopposition. (ECF No. 63). On August
2016, FNBO filed a reply. (ECF No. 66).

On July 15, 2016, Duell filed a Motionf&ummary Judgment, or Alternative
Summary Adjudication against FNBO(ECF No. 60). On August 8, 2016, FNEH
filed a response in opposition. (ECF No. 6@n August 15, 2016, Duell filed a rep
(ECF No. 72). On August 11, 2016, &ufiled a Notice of Settlement betwe
Dunning and Duell. (ECF No. 71).

[1. Statement of Fact

Duell and FNBO entered into a bindiaigedit card agreement. (Duell Respor
Statement of Undisputed Material F{ESUMF"), ECF No. 63-14 at 3). Due
“incurred financial obligabns” to FNBO on this cardna the “alleged debt” becan
delinquent. (FNBO SUMF, ECF No. 69-1Ht “In late 2011, [Duell] and FNB(
agreed to modify certain provisions oétbredit card agreement, which is known :
‘work-out’ agreement and internally at FNB® a ‘hardship’ program.” (Duell SUM
ECF No. 63-14 at 3). As paof this work-out programDuell agreed to pay FNB!
$255.00 per month. (Duell SUMF, ECF No. 63-14).

In a declaration filed by FNBO, Pasborne, the Managing Director
Collections and Recovery at FNBO, stated

'tI)'he “work-out” program is basexh bank reBguIations imposed on FNBO

y several regulatory bodies. In orfl@rFNBO to re-age an account and

cure contractually due pagtie balances, severaiteria need to be met .

... Also pursuant to these regulatioRBIBO is only allowed to re-age the
account one time for a “hardship program” and the account no longer

_ ! Duell included a request for judadi notice in her motion for summa
judgment. (ECF No. _60-162. he Court declines to taledicial notice because th
document does not impact the Court’s ruling on the cross-maotions for sur
judgment. See, e.(tg. Asvesta v. Petroutsas, 580 F.3d 1000, 1010 n.12 (9th Cir. 20(
(denying request for judicial notice whauelicial notice would be “unnecessary”).
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qualifies for any future rage action . . . . As part of the work-out
program in this ‘case, FNBO specifigadiscussed and agreed to the re-
aging criteria before agreeing to re-age Plaintiff's account.

(Osborne Decl., ECF No. 58-4 at 2). Osbastated that after implementing the wo
out agreement with Duell, “FNBO was ndibaved to re-age this account again in
future.” 1d. at 3. Osborne stated that,

Pursuant to the work-out prograamd agreement, the account would
convert from an open-end account to a closed-end account, the accoun
would not bear interest, and the renirag balance would be pald off over

a term of less than 60 monthsraguired by regulator quidelines, which
equaled a monthly payment in the amount of $255.00 in this case. The
outstanding balance at the time tharties entered into the work-out
agreement' was $12,711.63.

Id. at 3. Osborne stated that FNBO sefdonfirmatory letterto Duell describing hov
the work-out agreement modified certain terms and conditions of the
Cardmember Agreementd. at 3. Osborne stated,

Prior to entering into this work-oaigreement, [Duell’s] account was 90
days past due and being reported as sutiie credit bureaus. . . . Plaintiff
made the first three payments pwasuto the work-out program and as
agreed to, at this point FNBO cdréhe delinquent bhance and reported
the debt as “current” to credieporting bureaus. . . . On or around
February of 2012, Plaintiff begamissing her required monthly payment
a%aln and the Account was againrgereported as “delinquént.””. . . .
Throughout most of 2012 and 2013 this Account was in “delinquent”
status.. .. Onor around August 2813 .. . . [Duell] requested that FNBO
cease communicating with'her. . . . On or around January of 2014, the
account went 60 days past due #melaccount was sent to the Dunning

d t:ls_%lw Firm for legal remedies.

.at 3-4.

A letter dated November 8, 2011 from B® to Duell regarding the work-ol
agreement described the terms & #yreement and stated in part,

At your request, your account will be placed in the First Bankcard

Hardship program:. . . . If you fail tnake a payment when due, we may

provide additional negative reportirggarding your account to consumer

reporting agencies andgale the account in chayeff status. All other

erowsmns of your Cardmember Agreerhissmain in full force and effect.
(ECF No. 58-6).

A letter dated February 14, 2014 froraiihing informed Duell that Dunning ha
been assigned to the account. (B@F 60-11). The letter stated,

Please be advised that the aboveregfeed debt has been assigned to this

firm to initiate collection effortgsegarding your delinquent outstandin
balance to our client. In the evethat legal action is pursued an
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judgment is ultimately obtained against you, the judgment may include all
court costs, prejudgment interest attbrney’s fees in addition to the
principal amount owed. If you wisto eliminate further legal action,
please contact us|.]

Id.
“Dunning Law Firm had very limitechuthority regarding the account,

attorneys typically do. The Dunning Law figould: (a) Enter into a payment plan;

Enter into a settlement agreement; olliid)ate a lawsuit.” (Duell SUMF, ECF 63-14

at 5). “The Dunning Law Firm had thetharity to settle the account on behalf
FNBO.” (FNBO SUMF, ECF No. 69-1 at 2).

Following the February 12011 letter, Duell and the Dunning Law Firm reac
a payment arrangement. In a subseqlettar dated Februya 24, 2014 from Dunning
to Duell, Dunning confirmed the terms of a “payment plan” and stated in part,

The Bank is willing to accept thersuof $6106.63 in monthly payments

of $170.00 . . . AsTong as you arerant on your payments the Bank will

refrain from further collection activitiesHowever, in the event that Kou

]::Ia”btto timely make any payment, tBank will swiftly move to collect the

ebt.

(ECF No. 60-12 at 2).

After February of 2014, Duell consistty made monthly payments of $170.

(FNBO SUMF, ECF No. 69-1 at 3). “FNB€bntinued to report the account to crg
reporting agencies pursuant to the cacitwal terms in place and mandated by
banking regulations.” (Duell SUMF, ECF Ngé83-14 at 5). FNBO reported the debt

delinquent to the credit bureaus frombReary 2014 through April 2015. (Due

SUMF, ECF No. 60-15 at 4-6; ECF No. 69-1 at 3).
Duell disputed the allegedly inaccuratéormation on her credit report wit
Experian, a credit bureau, in a letter dated 28ly2014. (ECF No. 60-13 at 2). Int
letter to Experian, Duell states that negativarks on her credit report that she was
with payment for multiple months in 2014 are inaccuratke. The letter stated,
On February 24, 2014, | entered iatpayment plan with attorney James
MacLeod of the Dunning Law Firm who represents First National Bank
of Omaha. The encloséztter from Mr. MacLeodonfirms the agreement

made between myself and First aial Bank of Omaha where&a | would
remit payments in the amount of $100. . . . Additionally, Mr. MacLeod
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confirms that as Ion%as | am curten my payments, First National Bank
will “refrain from further collection atvities”and this would include the
d marking of my credit report.

In a declaration by Susan Edwards, theeBtior of Risk Administration at FNBQ,

Edwards stated that FNBO receiveddispute from Experian on or around August
2014. (Edwards Decl., ECF No. 58-10 at Efdwards stated that FNBO received
dispute in the form of an Automated Citddispute Verifications (“ACDV”). (Edwardy

Decl., ECF No. 58-10 at 2). “The displaaguage in the ACDV stated the following:

15,
the

V7

‘Disputes present/previous Account Status/Payment History Profile/Payment Ratin
Verify Payment History Profile.”” Id. Edwards stated, “After FNBO received the

ACDV from Experian, and did an investijon of the card’s overall history and

payment history, it was determined thased on the delinquency state and the t¢rms

and conditions in place, the account wmeesng reported accurately, including the

outstanding balance and payment historfgtdwards Decl., ECF No. 58-10 at 2).

In a portion of a deposition of Paul Osborne, Osborne stated that the ACD\

“came in [to FNBO] with two supportindocuments” which wertscanned and were

in our system.” (Osborne Depo., ECF 6@4312). Osborne stated that the FN

B0

account notes would not necessarily utd a record of a payment arrangement

negotiated by Dunningld. at 8. Osborne stated thhe letter from Dunning to Due|ll

might not be on the account notes becadge\NBO] do[es] not necessarily g

Pt

information from our law firms if they m@tiate a payment arrangement, only if they

come back to us to get approval faedtlement that's below the thresholdd.
II1. Legal Standard

“A party may move for summary judgnerdentifying each claim or defense—or

the part of each claim or defense—on which summary judgment is sought. Thie col

shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute

to any material fact and the movant is entitie judgment as a matter of law.” Fed.
Civ. P. 56(a). A material fact is one thatetevant to an elemenf a claim or defens
and whose existence might afféeé outcome of the suiee Matsushita Elec. Indus.
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Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586-87 (1986). The materiality of a
is determined by the substantivevigoverning the claim or defens8ee Anderson v.
Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986}elotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317
322-24 (1986).

The moving party has the initial burderdeimonstrating that summary judgms
Is proper.See Adickesv. SH. Kress& Co., 398 U.S. 144, 153 (1970). The burden't
shifts to the opposing party to provide admissible evidence beyond the plead

show that summary judgment is not appropriaBee Anderson, 477 U.S. at 256,

Celotex, 477 U.S. at 322, 324. The opposing pardyislence is to be believed, and
justifiable inferences are to be drawn in her favise Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255. T

fact
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—
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avoid summary judgment, the opposingrtpacannot rest solely on conclusqry

allegations of fact or lawSee Berg v. Kincheloe, 794 F.2d 457, 459 (9th Cir. 1986).

Instead, the nonmovant must designate which specific facts show that there is a
issue for trial. See Anderson, 477 U.S. at 256.
V. Discussion

A. Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act

genu

FNBO contends that it is entitled jicdgment because it was reporting the debt

accurately as a matter of law. (ECF Noa62-3). FNBO contads it could not re-ag

e

the account because the account had beergpidyire-aged within the last five years

and to do so would violate “controlling bangiregulations”. (ECF No. 58-1 at 7,

91

11-12; ECF No. 66 at 1-3). FNBO contends the “Dunning firm agreed to gccep
$170.00 a month on behalf of FNBO in lieicommencing legal proceedings” but dlid

not agree to modify the original bindirgedit card agreement or report to cre

rdit

bureaus that the account was current. (ECF38a@t 2). FNBO contends that it “has

a duty to accurately report tk&atus of an account, whether it be current or in defi
and that “FNBQO’s actions in reporting tlaecurate status of the account to crg

-6 - 14cv2774-WQH-JLB

Ault”
bdit




© 00 N O 0o A W N P

N NN N DNNDNNDNDRRRRR R R B B
0w N O 0~ W N PFP O © 0N O 0O M W N R O

bureaus were not attempts to collect a dédd”

Duell contends that she is entitlegudgment because FNBO was reporting
debt inaccurately as a mattedafv. (ECF No. 60-1 at 16-27Duell contend thaithe
paymen agreemelr negotiate by Dunnin¢ was binding on FNBO, superseded
earliel agreement anc reduce! Duell’'s “minimum monthly paymen for [Duell’s]

the

all

FNBQC debt"to $17Cpermonth (ECF No. 63 at 11). Duell contends FNBO violated

the Rosenthe Act by “falsely reporting thal [Duell] was delinquent on [Duell’s]

monthly obligatior despit«receip of atleas $17C petmonth.” (ECF No. 60-1 at 21).

The Rosenthal Act requires complianciéhwthe federal FaiDebt Collection
Practices Act (“FDCPA”) and a debt collectbat violates the FDCPA also violates 1
Rosenthal Act.See Cal. Civ Code 8§ 1788.1Gatesv. MCT Grp., Inc., 93 F. Supp. 3«
1182, 1192 (S.D. Cal. 2019jtosseinzadeh v. M.R.S Assocs., 387 F. Supp. 2d 110
1118 (C.D. Cal. 2005). Duell alleges a numbgwiolations of the Rosenthal A
through violations of the FDCPA. The two sections at issue are sections 169
1692f. (ECF No. 60-1 at 16-26).

Section 1692e prohibits the use by a debt collector of “any false, decep
misleading representations or means in cotmmevith the collection of any debt.” 1
U.S.C. 8§1692e. Section 1692¢ includes a ndrasastive list of examples of proscrib
conduct:

(2) The false representation of

(A) the character, amount, or legal status of any debt; or
(82 Communicating or threatening to communicate to an%/ person credit
Information which is known or wbh should be known fo be false,
including the failure to communicatesatha disputed debt is disputed.

(10) The use of any false repres¢iotaor deceptive means to collect or
attempt to collect a debt or to abt information concerning a customer.

21n its Motion for Summary Judgment, FNBO also contends that a series of
alerts requested by Duell were not an attetoollect a debt and did not violate t
RFDCPA. (ECF No. 58-1 at 13-14). In hesponse, Duell states that these “e-1
alerts are not at issue in [Duell's] & Amended Complaint.” fECF No.63 at 1
The Court does not address this argumerEMBO because Duell states that she
not alleged a violation of the Rosbkat Act based on the email alerts.
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15 U.S.C. § 1692e.

Section 1692f states that a “debt collector may not use unfair or unsconsc
means to attempt to collect any debL5 U.S.C. § 1692f. Section 1692f includ
non-exhaustive list of exangs of proscribed conduct. Section 1692f(1) proh
“The collection of any amount (including anyarest, fee, charge, or expense incide
to the principal obligation) unless such amasmeixpressly authorized by the agreemn
creating the debt or permitted by law.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(1).

“Whether conduct violates 88 1692el692f requires an objective analysis t
takes into account whether the least soptastid debtor would likely be misled by
communication.”Donohuev. Quick Collect, Inc., 592 F.3d 1027, 1030 (9th Cir. 201
(quotingGuerrerov. RIM AcquisitionsLLC, 449 F.3d 926, 934 (9thir. 2007)). “The

onak
a

bits

ntal

ent

nat
a
0)

‘least sophisticated debtor’ standard is ‘enthan simply examining whether particujar

language would deceive or mislead a reasonable debtGoiizales v. Arrow Fin.

Servs, LLC, 660 F.3d 1055, 1061-62 (9th Cir. 2011) (quofliegran v. Kaplan, 109
F.3d 1428, 1432 (9th Cir. 1997)). “The stamts ‘designed to protect consumers
below average sophistication or intelligen@#,those who are ‘uninformed or naivg
particularly when those individuaksre targeted by debt collectorsfd. at 1062
(quotingDuffy v. Landberg, 215 F.3d 871, 874-75 (8th (A000)). “At the same time

the standard ‘preserv[es] a quotient@dsonableness and pre$esh a basic level of

understanding and willingness ttead with care.” Id. (QuotingRosenau v. Unifund
Corp., 539 F.3d 218, 221 (3d Cir. 2008)).

The Court condudes that FNBO has failed torcaits burden to show that
reportec Duell's deb accuratel pursuar to bindinc bankin¢ regulation. and
contractuez obligations FNBO has not demonstratiéit banking regulations requirg
FNBQ to repor the deb as delinquent. See 65 Fed. Reg. 36,903 (describing f
Uniform Retai Credii Classiication and Account ManagemiePolicy noticed in the
Federe Registe as a “supervison policy used by the Agencies for unifor
classification and treatme of retail credit loans in financial institutions”). Duell h
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not carriec her burder to establisl that FNBQ falsely reportec helr deb as a matter of

D

law. The Court concludes that a trierffact could find thaENBO was reporting th
debt accurately pursuant to underlying regulatory and contractual obligations.

FNBO’s Motion for Summary Judgmenttiv respect to the Rosenthal Act|is
denied and Duell’'s Motion for Summary Judgmh with respect to the Rosenthal Act
Is denied.

B. Fair Credit Reporting Act

FNBO contends that it conducted a reasomaivestigation in light of the limitef
dispute information received from ExperidECF No. 69 at 10). FNBO contends that
the investigation is not made unreasondlyléhe fact that “FNBO does not require|its
attorneys to report ‘payment plans’ negtadwithin a pre-established authorization
range.” Id. FNBO contends, “FNBO fully reaed that the payment arrangement|did
not modify the terms and conditions of tletract and its investigation revealed suich
result.” Id.

Duell contends that FNBO violateddion 1681s-2(b) by “failing to reasonahly
investigate [Duell’s] dispute.” (ECF N@O-1 at 28). Duell contends that FNBQ'’s

“cursory investigation” was unreasonable because “FNBO does not notate a consume

account following settlement and/or paymantingements with an outside vendar.
Id. at 30. Duell contends that FNBO1sviestigation was unreasonable because|any
payment terms in FNBQO'’s account notes sperseded by Duell's February 24, 2014
agreement with Dunningld.
Congress enacted the [FCRA] . . . te@me fair and accurate credit reporting,
promote efficiency in ta banking system, and protect consumer privéasgrman v.
Wol poff & Abramson, LLP, 584 F.3d 1147, 1153 (9th Cir. 2009) (citfBajeco Ins. Co.
of Am. v. Burr, 551 U.S. 47, 52 (2007)). “[T]o ensufeat credit reports are accurate,
the FCRA imposes some duties on the sesirthat provide credit information fto

-9- 14cv2774-WQH-JLB
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[consumer reporting agencies], cdllgurnishers’ in the statute’”ld. 15 U.S.C. §
1681s-2(b) states that upon “receiving notice . . . of a dispute with regard
completeness or accuracy of any infatron provided by a person to a consur
reporting agency” furnishers are required to
(A) conduct an investigation with respéathe disputed information; (B)
review all relevantinformation provided by the consumer reporting
aPency pursuant to section 1681i(a)(2) of this title; (C) report the results
of the investigation to the consum@porting agency; [and] (D) if the
investigation finds that the informat is incomplete or inaccurate, report
those results to all other consunm[tnortmg agencies to which the person
furnished the information and thatompile and maintain files on
consumers on a nationwide basis|.]
15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b)(1kee also Gorman, 584 F.3d at 1154. A furnisher
investigation of disputed information siube reasonable to satisfy the FCR&ee
Gorman, 584 F.3d at 1157 (“Requiring furnisheos inquiry by a [consumer reportir
agency], to conduct at least a reasonatwe;cursory investigation comports with t
aim of the statute to ‘prett consumers from the transsion of inaccurate informatig

aboutthem.”). In determining reasonablendske pertinent qudson is thus whethe
the furnisher’s procedures were reasonablegit of what it learned about the natu
of the dispute from the description the [consumer reportg agency’s] notice g
dispute.” Id. “Summary judgment is generally an inappropriate way to de
guestions of reasonableness . . . . [budjigropriate ‘when oglone conclusion abot
the conduct’s reasonableness is possibli"at 1157.

In this case, the reasonablenessFdIBO’s investigation depends on t
information included in the notice ofgtiute FNBO received from Experiargee
Gorman, 584 F. 3d at 1157. The Court concludes that material issues of fact
as to the information FNBO received irethotice of dispute alongside the staten

in the Automated Credit Dpgite Verifications (*“ACDV”) and the accuracy of FNBC

% The parties agree that B is a furnisher of information within the meaning
S

of the statute.See ECF No. 69 at 8 (“A furnisher ahformation, such as FNBO
requwed”)to conduct an investigation afdispute received from a credit report
agency.”).

-10 - 14cv2774-WQH-JLB
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credit reporting in light of its contractual obligations to Ddelthe Court conclude
that summary judgment is inappropriaté@the FCRA claim écause a finder of fag
could come to more than one conotusiabout the requirements of a reasoni
investigation under the circumstancdsl at 1157. FNBO’s Motion for Summa

Judgment with respect to the FCRA clasmenied and Duell’s Motion for Summalry

Judgment with respect to the FCRA claim is denied.

C. California Consumer Credit Reporting Agencies Act

FNBO contends that FNBO did not agrto cure the past due balance on
account or report the account as currentCKENo. 69 at 12). FNBO contends tt
FNBO could not legally agree to cutee past due balance on the accolitit. FNBO
contends that FNBO did not agree to “modifyof the essential terms of the credit c

S
t
hble

y

N/

the
nat

Aard

agreement based on the Dunning paymeangement” and could not do so according

to banking regulations. (ECF No. 66 at 6-FNBO contends #t it reported the del
accurately “pursuant to the binding terarsd conditions of the credit card accour
(ECF No. 69 at 12).

Duell contends that FNBO is liablunder California Civil Code sectig
1758.25(a) of the California Consunt@redit Reporting Agencies Act (‘CCCRAA’
“for FNBO'’s failure to repar[Duell’s] alleged debt accurately to the Credit Burea
(ECF No. 60-1 at 33). Duell contendatfNBO “should havknown that FNBO wa

t
t.”

U7

reporting [Duell’'s] account inaccuratelyébause FNBO was notified of the Dunning

payment arrangement and Duell’'smlige about FNBO'’s credit reportingdd.
Pursuant to the CCCRAA, “a person simalt furnish information on a specif

transaction or experience to any consuanedit reporting agency if the person kng

or should know the information is incomf#eor inaccurate.” Cal. Civ. Code

1728.25(a). The Court of Appls for the Ninth Circuit lsarecognized that a private

~ *In brl_efmdq, the FNBO and Duell iayo dardispute the the contents of notice
dispute receive b%/ FNBO. (Duell SUMF, EQlo. 63-14 at 6). During oral argume
FNBO stated that the noticd dispute contained the AW/ as well as the letter frof
the Dunning firm confirming the $170 payment arrangement.
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right of action exists to enforce Section Aa) against furnishers of informatidgee
Gorman, 584 F.3d 1147, 1171-73 (9th Cir. 2009). The phrase “incomple
inaccurate” within the CCCRAA has been intefed in a matter consistent with t
FCRA to mean “patently incagct or materially misleading Carvalhov. Equifax I nfo.
Servs, LLC, 629 F.3d 876, 890-91 (9th Cir. 2018¥e also Kuns v. Ocwen Loan
Servicing, LLC, 611 F. App’x 398, 400 (9th Cir. 2015) (interpreting “incomplete
inaccurate . . . as requiring that furnishersreflit information . . not only refrain from
making any reports that are obviously wrongroessing crucial data, but also that
reports not contain information that is materially misleading.”).

FNBO failed to carry itburden to establish thBENBO was reporting accurate
pursuant to binding banking regulations andtcactual obligations. Duell has fails
to carry her burden to show that no mateisale of fact exists as to whether FN

knew or should have known that it wasrnishing “incomplete or inaccurate
information to a consumeredit reporting agencySee Cal. Civ. Code § 1728.25(9).

The Court concludes that a trier of faculd determine that FNBO was reporting
Duell account accurately in light of its comttual obligations and existing regulatio
FNBO’s Motion for Summary Judgment witbspect to the CCGRA claim is denied
and Duell's Motion for Summary Judgntenith respect to the CCCRAA claim
denied.
V. Conclusion

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Mimn for Summary Judgment filed |
FNBO (ECF No. 58) is DENIED and the Motion for Summary Judgmen
Alternatively Summary Adjudication fiteby Duell (ECF No. 60) is DENIED.

DATED: November 29, 2016
A R

WILLIAM Q. HAY
United States District Judge
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